
 
7275 W. MAIN STREET, KALAMAZOO, MI 49009-9334 
269-216-5220           Fax 375-7180         TDD 375-7198 

www.oshtemo.org 
 

 
 

NOTICE 
OSHTEMO CHARTER TOWNSHIP 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
 

Regular Meeting 
Thursday, May 23, 2019 

6:00 p.m. 
AGENDA 

 
1. Call to Order 

2. Pledge of Allegiance 

3. Approval of Agenda 

4. Public Comment on Non-Agenda Items 

5. Approval of Minutes:  May 9, 2019 
 

6. PUBLIC HEARING: Consumers Credit Union Temporary Facility 
Consideration of an application from Bosch Architecture for special use and general layout plan 
approval for a temporary banking drive through facility for Consumers Credit Union at 5030 
West Main Street.  The temporary facility would be in operation during the redevelopment of 
their existing site at 5018 West Main Street.  Parcel No. 3905-13-280-051.  

 
7. PUBLIC HEARING: Costco Gas Station 

Consideration of an application from Costco Wholesale for special use and site plan approval to 
expand the existing gas station located at 5100 Century Avenue to increase the canopy and add 
one new gas pump dispenser at each of the four lanes. Parcel No. 3905-25-240-001.  

 
8. PUBLIC HEARING: Senior Living Facility  

Consideration of an application from Byce & Associates for special use and site plan approval for 
a new assisted living facility within the Sky King I Planned Unit Development located at the 
northeast corner of Lexy Lane and North 9th Street. Parcel No. 3905-14-385-070.  

 
9. Old Business 
 
10. Any Other Business 

 
11. Planning Commissioner Comments 

 
12. Adjournment 



Policy for Public Comment 
Township Board Regular Meetings, Planning Commission & ZBA Meetings 

All public comment shall be received during one of the following portions of the Agenda of an open meeting:  

a. Citizen Comment on Non-Agenda Items or Public Comment – while this is not intended to be a forum for dialogue
and/or debate, if a citizen inquiry can be answered succinctly and briefly, it will be addressed or it may be delegated
to the appropriate Township Official or staff member to respond at a later date. More complicated questions can be
answered during Township business hours through web contact, phone calls, email (oshtemo@oshtemo.org), walk-
in visits, or by appointment.

b. After an agenda item is presented by staff and/or an applicant, public comment will be invited.
At the close of public comment there will be Board discussion prior to call for a motion. While comments that include
questions are important, depending on the nature of the question, whether it can be answered without further
research, and the relevance to the agenda item at hand, the questions may not be discussed during the Board
deliberation which follows.

Anyone wishing to make a comment will be asked to come to the podium to facilitate the audio/visual capabilities 
of the meeting room.  Speakers will be invited to provide their name, but it is not required.   

All public comment offered during public hearings shall be directed, and relevant, to the item of business on which 
the public hearing is being conducted.  Comment during the Public Comment Non-Agenda Items may be directed to 
any issue. 

All public comment shall be limited to four (4) minutes in duration unless special permission has been granted in 
advance by the Supervisor or Chairperson of the meeting.  

Public comment shall not be repetitive, slanderous, abusive, threatening, boisterous, or contrary to  the orderly 
conduct of business.  The Supervisor or Chairperson of the meeting shall terminate any public comment which does 
not follow these guidelines.  

(adopted 5/9/2000) 

(revised 5/14/2013) 

(revised 1/8/2018)

Questions and concerns are welcome outside of public meetings during Township Office hours through phone 
calls, stopping in at the front desk, by email, and by appointment. The customer service counter is open from 
Monday-Thursday 8:00 am- 5:00 pm, and on Friday 8:00 am-1:00 pm. Additionally, questions and concerns are 
accepted at all hours through the website contact form found at www.oshtemo.org, email, postal service, and 
voicemail. Staff and elected official contact information is provided below. If you do not have a specific person to 
contact, please direct your inquiry to oshtemo@oshtemo.org and it will be directed to the appropriate person.   

Oshtemo Township 

Board of Trustees 

Supervisor   
 Libby Heiny-Cogswell  216-5220      libbyhc@oshtemo.org  

Clerk   
Dusty Farmer   216-5224       dfarmer@oshtemo.org   

Treasurer   

 Grant Taylor 216-5221     gtaylor@oshtemo.org   

Trustees   

Deb Everett 375-4260     deverett@oshtemo.org  

Zak Ford  271-5513     zford@oshtemo.org

Ken Hudok       548-7002     khudok@oshtemo.org

Township Department Information 
Assessor: 

Kristine Biddle 216-5225  assessor@oshtemo.org

Fire Chief: 

Mark Barnes 375-0487  mbarnes@oshtemo.org

Ordinance Enf: 

Rick Suwarsky  216-5227   rsuwarsky@oshtemo.org
Parks Director: 

Karen High 216-5233   khigh@oshtemo.org
     Rental Info      216-5224   oshtemo@oshtemo.org

Planning Director: 

Julie Johnston 216-5223    jjohnston@oshtemo.org

Public Works: 

Marc Elliott 216-5236    melliott@oshtemo.org

Cheri L. Bell 372-2275 cbell@oshtemo.org

mailto:oshtemo@oshtemo.org
http://www.oshtemo.org/
mailto:oshtemo@oshtemo.org
mailto:libbyhc@oshtemo.org
mailto:dfarmer@oshtemo.org
mailto:ncoshtwp@oshtemo.org
mailto:dboshtwp@oshtemo.org
mailto:%20%20%20%20%20deverett@oshtemo.org
mailto:zford@oshtemo.org
mailto:khudok@oshtemo.org
mailto:assessor@oshtemo.org
mailto:mbarnes@oshtemo.org
mailto:rsuwarsky@oshtemo.org
mailto:khigh@oshtemo.org
mailto:oshtemo@oshtemo.org
mailto:jjohnston@oshtemo.org
mailto:melliott@oshtemo.org


1 
 

OSHTEMO CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
MINUTES OF A MEETING AND WORK SESSION HELD MAY 9, 2019 
 
 
Agenda  
PUBLIC HEARING: SENIOR LIVING FACILITY–REQUEST TABLE TO MAY 23, 2019 
 
OLD BUSINESS: 

a. MAPLE HILL OVERLAY ZONE 
 
ANY OTHER BUSINESS: 

a. UPDATE ON LIGHTING ORDINANCE 
______________________________________________________________________ 
 
A meeting of the Oshtemo Charter Township Planning Commission was held Thursday, 
May 9, 2019, commencing at approximately 6:00 p.m. at the Oshtemo Charter 
Township Hall. 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT: Bruce VanderWeele, Chair 
    Ollie Chambers 
    Ron Commissaris 
    Dusty Farmer, Secretary 

  Micki Maxwell 
  Mary Smith, Vice Chair 

MEMBER ABSENT:  Keshia Dickason 
  

Also present were, Julie Johnston, Planning Director, James Porter, Township 
Attorney, and Martha Coash, Meeting Transcriptionist. Two other persons were in 
attendance. 

 
Call to Order and Pledge of Allegiance 
 
 Chairperson VanderWeele called the meeting to order at approximately 6:00 p.m. 
and invited those present to join in reciting the “Pledge of Allegiance.” 
 
Agenda 
 
 The Chair determined no changes to the agenda were needed and let it stand. 
 
Public Comment on Non-Agenda Items 
 
 The Chair asked if anyone in the audience cared to address the Board on a non-
agenda item. Hearing none, he moved to the next item. 
 



2 
 

Approval of the Minutes of April 25, 2019 
 

Chairperson VanderWeele asked if there were any additions, deletions or 
corrections to the minutes of April 25, 2019. Hearing none, he asked for a motion. 

 
  Mr. Chambers made a motion to approve the minutes of April 25, 2019 as 
presented. Mr. Commissaris supported the motion. The motion was approved 
unanimously. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING: SENIOR LIVING FACILITY/REQUEST TABLE TO MAY 23, 2019 
 
 The Chairperson moved to the next item and asked Ms. Johnston for her report. 
 
 Ms. Johnston indicated this project was tabled to the May 9 meeting to allow the 
applicant time to complete the required engineered site plan, specifically to address 
storm water runoff issues. Since the applicant was still in the process of resolving these 
issues, she recommended tabling the application to the May 23rd meeting. 
 
 The Chair asked for a motion. 
 
 Ms. Farmer made a motion to table the Senior Living Facility public hearing to the 
May 23, 2019 meeting as requested.  Mr. Chambers supported the motion. The motion 
was approved unanimously. 
 
 Mr. Michael Hussar, Berkshire-Hathaway Buyers Agent for the applicant, asked 
for clarification of the process that would be followed on May 23. 
 
 Ms. Johnston explained the application was tabled to May 23 for consideration 
and public comment; there is no guarantee of approval by the Commission at that time.  
 
 At this point in the meeting, Chairperson VanderWeele moved to a work session 
format for the remaining items. 
 
WORK SESSION: 

 
Maple Hill Overlay Zone 

 
 Ms. Johnston provided the second draft of the new Maple Hill South Overlay 
Zone that included minor updates from the April 25 review meeting. 
 
 Ms. Johnston and Commissioners first reviewed edits and discussion from the 
April 25 meeting, and then reviewed/discussed each item of the draft Ordinance as they 
continued to move through the document. There were resulting changes, edits, and 
requests for Ms. Johnston to conduct further review of some specific items. They will 
continue to work through their evaluation of the draft ordinance at future meetings.  
  



3 
 

Update on Lighting Ordinance 
 
 Ms. Johnston indicated she had not had time to work on the Lighting Ordinance 
and will return with an update at a future meeting. 
 
 
PLANNING COMMISSIONER COMMENTS 
   
 There were no comments from Commissioners. 
  
ADJOURNMENT 
 

Hearing no further comments, Chairperson VanderWeele adjourned the meeting 
at approximately 8:00 p.m.  
 
 
Minutes prepared: 
May 11, 2019 
 
Minutes approved: 
___________, 2019 



 

 
7275 W. Main St. 

Kalamazoo, MI 49009 
(269) 375-4260 

www.oshtemo.org 

May 14, 2019 
 
To:  Planning Commission 
 
From:  Julie Johnston, AICP 
  Planning Director 
 
Applicant: John Lovely 
  Bosch Architecture 
 
Owner:  Consumers Credit Union 
 
Property: 5030 West Main Street, parcel number 05-13-280-051 
 (parking lot north of Consumers Credit Union) 
 
Zoning:  C: Local Business District 
 
Request: Special Use and Layout Plan Approval 
 
Articles(s): 18 – C: Local Business District 
 49 – Requirements for Special Use  
 65 – Special Uses  
 
Project Name:  Consumers Credit Union Temporary Facility 
 
PROJECT SUMMARY 
 
The applicant requests a special use and general site layout approval to allow a temporary banking facility 
for a period of approximately 18-months.  Consumers Credit Union (CCU) plans to demolish their structure 
at 5018 West Main Street and rebuild a new facility, which was approved by the Planning Commission on 
March 14, 2019.  During the demolition and rebuild, CCU would like permission to establish a temporary 
facility within the parking lot of 5030 West Main Street (Value City Furniture).   
 
There are no direct Zoning Ordinances that correlate with this request.  However, there are a few 
analogous ordinances and standard practices that could be considered.  The Township generally allows 
temporary construction trailers on developing sites, as long as they are not used as a residence for security 
of general contractor staff.  The Township also allows mobile homes/trailers as a temporary residence on 
residentially zoned property for owners who are building a new home.  These temporary residences are 
allowed for one year, with a six-month extension if approved by the Zoning Board of Appeals.  Finally, this 
request could fall under temporary outdoor events lasting more than one day, which is a special use.  Staff 
has determined that this application is best served under Section 18.40.N: temporary outdoor event as a 
special use. 
 
TEMPORARY OUTDOOR EVENTS 
 
The conditions of the special use are outlined in Section 49.220, which requires the following: 
 

http://www.ocba.com/


Oshtemo Township Planning Commission 
CCU Temp Facility 
05/14/2019 ∙ Page 2 

 
A. May last more than one day. 
B. Use is incidental to the principal use of the property. 
C. A Site Plan shall be submitted for administrative review indicating the following: 

1. Traffic lanes and on-site parking. 
2. Fire lanes and emergency vehicle turning areas. 
3. Restrooms provided (in building or portable facilities). 
4. Placement of vehicles, trailers, and all other equipment is away from adjoining residentially 

used properties and complies with all applicable setbacks. 
5. All activity takes place on subject property. 

D. The Fire Chief, or his designee, has approved the placement of vehicles, trailers, and all other 
equipment associated with the event. 

E. All signs directed off-site must receive a temporary sign permit and comply with all applicable sign 
ordinances. 

F. Property owner must approve and acknowledge the use of the property for the event. 
 
The applicant’s request is for a maximum of 18 months for the temporary facility.  They will be utilizing a 
trailer and three drive through lanes which will house interactive teller machines (ITM’s).  The ITM’s are 
linked to the corporate office in Texas Township where CCU staff will interact by video with customers at 
the drive through.  The trailer will have the required restroom facilities. 
 
The primary use of the parcel in question is Value City Furniture, which is part of the larger Maple Hill Mall 
commercial center.  A lease has been secured from DFG Maple Hill, LLC, owners of the subject site. While 
the temporary facility will not be located on the CCU parcel, the use of the parking lot as an impermanent 
banking center is incidental to this larger commercial center. 
 
The general layout plan indicates the required travel lanes and parking.  The trailer and ITM’s meet the 
setback requirements from Drake Road. Fire lanes have been designated meeting Fire Department 
standards.  The Fire Marshal has reviewed the site plan and has no concerns.   As stated on the site plan, 
when the temporary facility is no longer needed, all equipment will be removed and the parking lot will 
be restored to existing conditions or better. 
 
While the submission is for a temporary facility, this is a unique application due to the length of time 
requested.  The Planning Commission will again need to consider the parameters of a “temporary” 
outdoor event.  As previously outlined when the Planning Commission reviewed the application from the 
Thirsty Hound on April 11th, past practice has been to limit these events to approximately 30 days.   
 
The Township Zoning Ordinance does not provide a definition for “temporary” or “temporary use.” 
Guidance from Section 49.220 just indicates the use is allowed to last for more than one day, but does 
not give a maximum time period. For this application, the Planning Commission will need to consider the 
meaning of “temporary” and if past practice should be weighed.   
 
The Planning Commission can also consider the allowances of Section 57.20: Temporary Second Dwelling 
on a Parcel, which allows temporary trailers for 12-months while construction a new home.  An additional 
six months can be approved by the Zoning Board of Appeals.  
 
 
 



Oshtemo Township Planning Commission 
CCU Temp Facility 
05/14/2019 ∙ Page 3 

 
SPECIAL USE CONSIDERATIONS 
 
Section 65.30 provides review criteria for consideration when deliberating a Special Use request, as 
follows:   
 

A. Master Plan/Zoning Ordinance: The proposed use will be consistent with the purpose and 
intent of the Master Plan and Zoning Ordinance, including the District in which the use is 
located.  
 
The Future Land Use Plan calls for General Commercial uses in this area of the Township.  The 
General Commercial District is intended to serve both area residents as well as the regional 
market and transient customers.  Uses like big box retail, shopping centers, and auto-oriented 
uses are permitted.  Certainly, a temporary financial facility with drive through teller windows 
would fit into this district. In addition, a financial institution is a long-standing established use at 
the corner of Drake Road and West Main Street. 

 
B. Site Plan Review: The Site Plan Review Criteria of Section 64.80. 

 
An engineered site plan is not required for a temporary outdoor event and therefore this criterion 
is not applicable.  However, a general layout plan has been provided which is in compliance with 
the requirements of the Zoning Ordinance. 
 

C. Impacts: 
 
1. The proposed use would be compatible, harmonious and appropriate with the existing or 

planned character and uses of adjacent properties; meaning the proposed use can coexist 
with neighboring uses in a stable fashion over time such that no neighboring use is unduly 
negatively impacted. 
 
The site is currently an underutilized parking lot.  A temporary financial facility should have 
no compatibility issues with neighboring properties, considering the commercial nature of the 
center and the long running presence of CCU at this corner.   
 

2. Potentially adverse effects arising from the proposed use on adjacent properties would be 
minimized through the provision of adequate parking, the placement of buildings, 
structures and entrances, as well as the location of screening, fencing, landscaping, buffers 
or setbacks. 
 
There should be no effects on adjacent properties that require additional site considerations. 
 

3. The proposed use would not be detrimental, hazardous, or disturbing to existing or future 
adjacent uses or to the public welfare by reason of excessive traffic, noise, smoke, odors, 
glare, or visual clutter. 
 
Should have no impact on adjacent uses or the public welfare as this is a transient, temporary 
use. 
 



Oshtemo Township Planning Commission 
CCU Temp Facility 
05/14/2019 ∙ Page 4 

 
D. Environment: The natural features of the subject property shall only be cleared or altered to 

the extent necessary to accommodate site design elements, particularly where the natural 
features assist in preserving the general character of the area. 

 
Not applicable, as this is an existing site. 
 

E. Public Facilities: Adequate public and/or private infrastructure and services already exist or 
would be provided, and will safeguard the health, safety, and general welfare of the public. 
 
The temporary use will be served by a bathroom facility within the proposed trailer, which will be 
pumped weekly.  Non-potable water will be provided from a tank within the trailer for the 
bathroom. Drinkable water will be handled through a dispenser/cooler. Power and 
communication lines will be provided from the CCU site utilizing temporary poles and service 
lines.   
 

F. Specific Use Requirements: The Special Use development requirements of Article 49. 
 

All of the specific use requirements outlined in Section 49.220 have been met. 
 
PLANNING COMMISSION POSSIBLE ACTIONS 
 
Staff has outlined three possible actions for the Planning Commission to consider: 
 

A. Approve the special use as requested.  
B. Approve the special use but with conditions.   
C. Deny the request. 

 
If the Planning Commission is considering approving the special use and general layout plan, staff would 
recommend the following conditions:  
 

1. The temporary facility will be allowed for 12-months with a possible renewal by the Planning 
Commission for an additional 6-months. 

 
2. At the conclusion of the special use approval, the parking lot will be repaired and re-stripped 

meeting Zoning Ordinance standards.  
 
Respectfully Submitted, 

 
Julie Johnston, AICP 
Planning Director 
 
Attachments: Application 
  Aerial Map 

Site Layout 
 









May 15th, 2019 

Meeting Date:  May 23rd, 2019 

To: Planning Commission 

From:  Ben Clark, Zoning Administrator 

Applicant: Charles Mosely, Barghausen Consulting Engineers, Inc. 

Owner:  Costco Wholesale 

Property: 5050 Century Avenue, parcel number 05-25-240-001 

Zoning:  C: Local Business District 

Request: Special use and site plan amendment approval 

Articles(s): 18 – C: Local Business District 
49 – Requirements for Special Use 
64 – Site Plan Review 
65 – Special Uses 

Project Name:  Costco Gas Station Expansion 

PROJECT SUMMARY 

In operation since the end of 2014, the existing 4,090 square foot fueling station southeast of the Costco 
store currently accommodates eight fuel dispensing pump stations serving eight through lanes. This facility 
has consistently seen high customer volume, and patrons often must wait in line in the queuing area south 
of the station for a pump to become available so that they can purchase fuel. In order to provide faster service 
to their customers and reduce the amount of vehicle congestion and idle time on the site, Costco is requesting 
site plan and special use amendment permission to add one more row of fuel pumps south of the existing 
array of eight, bringing the total to twelve. In order to provide suitable shelter to patrons using the new 
pumps, the applicant is also planning to expand the existing canopy 28 feet to the south. It’s apparent that 
the original site layout anticipated this eventual need for such expansion, and the proposed changes will 
require no significant modifications to the existing vehicle queuing and circulation layout. 

Per Article 65: Special Uses of the Zoning Ordinance, initial approval for the gas station required Planning 
Commission approval, and this subsequent expansion warrants the same. Attached to this staff report is a 
project narrative provided by the applicant, wherein they share their client’s experiences with similar gas 
station expansions at other Costco locations, and present their rationale for how adding pumps will improve 
site functionality. 



Oshtemo Township Planning Commission 
Costco Gas Station Expansion 
5/15/2019 ∙ Page 2 

SPECIAL USE CONSIDERATIONS 

Section 65.30 provides review criteria for consideration when deliberating a Special Use request, as follows:  

A. Master Plan/Zoning Ordinance: The proposed use will be consistent with the purpose and
intent of the Master Plan and Zoning Ordinance, including District in which the use is located.

Located within the Century Highfield Sub-Area, the northwest quadrant of the intersection of Drake
Road and Stadium Drive was envisioned to act as a commercial gateway area for the Township. Now
the location of Costco and the Corner@Drake commercial planned unit development, this general
goal has been realized, and expansion of the gas station would be in accordance with the Master Plan
initiative.

From a zoning standpoint, the subject property is classified as C: Local Business District, within which
fueling stations are permissible with special use approval from the Planning Commission.

B. Site Plan Review: The Site Plan Review Criteria of Section 64.80.

A site plan has been provided that meets all of the requirements of the Site Plan Review Ordinance.
Any additional commentary or concerns will be discussed in the Site Plan Packet section found in this
report.

C. Impacts:

1. The proposed use would be compatible, harmonious and appropriate with the existing or
planned character and uses of adjacent properties; meaning the proposed use can coexist with
neighboring uses in a stable fashion over time such that no neighboring use is unduly negatively
impacted.

Given that this use is already established on the site and is generally in accordance with both the
Master Plan and the Zoning Ordinance, staff has no concerns that the expansion of this use will
negatively affect neighboring uses.

2. Potentially adverse effects arising from the proposed use on adjacent properties would be
minimized through the provision of adequate parking, the placement of buildings, structures
and entrances, as well as the location of screening, fencing, landscaping, buffers or setbacks.

Staff anticipates that the proposed expansion of the gas station will have no such negative
impacts on adjacent properties. The placement of the new pumps and addition to the canopy
will be done in full compliance with any relevant requirements of the Zoning Ordinance,
appropriate stacking space for vehicles will be provided, and no additional screening or
landscaping is required. Indeed, the existing site is already largely configured for this expansion.

3. The proposed use would not be detrimental, hazardous, or disturbing to existing or future
adjacent uses or to the public welfare by reason of excessive traffic, noise, smoke, odors, glare,
or visual clutter.



Oshtemo Township Planning Commission 
Costco Gas Station Expansion 
5/15/2019 ∙ Page 3 

Based upon the applicant’s provided project narrative, the proposed changes should have a positive 
impact regarding on-site traffic, as it’s intended that adding pumps will means less wait time for 
patrons. Ideally this will mean better traffic flow and less vehicle idle time—an environmental 
benefit. 

D. Environment: The natural features of the subject property shall only be cleared or altered to the
extent necessary to accommodate site design elements, particularly where the natural features
assist in preserving the general character of the area.

The proposed project area is already paved, and no natural features will be disturbed as a part of
these modifications.

E. Public Facilities: Adequate public and/or private infrastructure and services already exist or would
be provided, and will safeguard the health, safety, and general welfare of the public.

This property is already adequately served by public utilities and the proposed expansion should add
little to no burden to the system.

F. Specific Use Requirements: The Special Use development requirements of Article 49.

Article 49 of the Zoning Ordinance dictates no specific considerations for gas stations. Staff
recommend that the Planning Commission evaluate this proposal based upon the general standards
of section 65.30 discussed in this section of the report.

SITE PLAN PACKET 

Site Plan 

The project site plan shows how the existing fueling area canopy—currently 32 feet long north to south—will 
be extended by 28 feet in order to cover the four new proposed pumps. In order to ensure that adequate 
vehicle stacking space will remain for customers waiting for an open pump, existing pavement land markings 
will be further extended south into the open paved area. The planned modifications will preserve the stacking 
and circulation arrangements already present on the site, with accommodations simply being shifted south. 

Landscape Plan 

The subject property is already in compliance with the Township’s landscaping requirements and the 
proposed project requires no additional treatments. 

Photometric Plan 

Some canopy lighting is proposed as a part of this project. The planned light fixtures and the associated 
photometric plan are in full compliance with the Township’s lighting standards. 

Elevation Drawings 



Oshtemo Township Planning Commission 
Costco Gas Station Expansion 
5/15/2019 ∙ Page 4 

Color elevation illustrations have been provided with this plan, indicating an aesthetically identical 
continuation to the existing fuel pump canopy. 

Engineering Concerns 

The Township Engineer has no concerns with the project site plan. All engineering requirements have been 
satisfied. 

Fire Marshal Concerns 

The Township Fire Marshal has reviewed the project site plan and has no concerns. 

PLANNING COMMISSION POSSIBLE ACTIONS 

Staff have no outstanding concerns with the project site plan. If the Planning Commission is inclined to grant 
special use and site plan amendment approval, staff recommend such without condition. 

Respectfully Submitted, 

Ben Clark, 
Zoning Administrator 
Attachments:  Application 

Project narrative 
Site Plan 
Canopy elevation illustrations 





















 

May 14, 2019 
 
 
 
 
Meeting Date:  May 23, 2019   
 
To:  Planning Commission 
 
From:  Julie Johnston, AICP 
  Planning Director 
 
Applicant: Danielle Rhodes, Byce & Associates on behalf of 
  Build Senior Living 
 
Owner:  Seeco II, LLC 
 
Property: Northeast corner of Lexy Lane and North 9th Street, parcel number 05-14-385-070 
 
Zoning:  R-2: Residence District and Planned Unit Development 
 
Request: Special Use and Site Plan Approval 
 
Articles(s): 41 – Planned Unit Development 
 64 – Site Plan Review 
 65 – Special Uses  
 
Project Name:  Oshtemo Assisted Living 
 
PROJECT SUMMARY 
 
Byce and Associated, on behalf of Build Senior Living (Brighton Land Holdings, LLC) is requesting an 
amendment to the Sky King I Planned Unit Development (PUD) to construct a senior assisted living facility. 
The new structure is proposed on an approximate 5.3-acre property at the northeast corner of Lexy Lane and 
North 9th Street.  The property is zoned R-2: Residence District, but on May 27, 2004, the Township Planning 
Commission approved the Sky King I PUD, which outlines this property as a nonresidential use. 
 
When this project was initially presented to staff, there was some concern that the use did not fit the intent 
of Section 41.60.B, which outlines the allowable nonresidential uses in a PUD, as follows: 
 

Low intensity nonresidential uses such as educational, cultural, recreational, neighborhood office or 
neighborhood commercial nature, including uses and buildings accessory thereto. Non-residential 
uses shall be compatible in design, layout, scale and appearance with the residential character of the 
area and shall be an integral part of a residential development logically oriented to and coordinated 
with the planned unit development to serve the day-to-day needs of residents in the development. 

 
As this parcel was designated as the nonresidential portion of the PUD, staff was concerned that an assisted 
living facility did not met the intent of this section of the Ordinance.  The applicant requested an 
interpretation from the Zoning Board of Appeals, who found the following: 



Oshtemo Township Planning Commission 
Oshtemo Assisted Living 
05/15/2019 ∙ Page 2 

 
 
 

Since assisted living facilities are a low intensity commercial use within the C: Local Business District, 
they therefore are an acceptable low intensity nonresidential use within the PUD Ordinance. The 
motion was approved 4 – 1, with Mr. Sikora voting against. 

 
With this interpretation of the Ordinance, the applicant was free to make an application to the Planning 
Commission.  The proposed development will include both assisted living and memory care facilities.  A total 
of 65 units with 74 beds are planned.  The majority of the units are studios with one bed, or a one-bedroom 
unit.  Nine of the anticipated units will contain two beds.   
 
SPECIAL USE CONSIDERATIONS 
 
While the PUD Special Use was approved by the Planning Commission in 2004, the regulations at that time 
indicated any new addition to the PUD must also follow the Special Use process.  Therefore, this application 
has been evaluated against Section 65.30, which provides review criteria for consideration when deliberating 
a Special Use request, as follows:   
 

A. Master Plan/Zoning Ordinance: The proposed use will be consistent with the purpose and 
intent of the Master Plan and Zoning Ordinance, including District in which the use is located.  
 
The Future Land Use Plan calls for Low Density Residential uses in this area of the Township.  This 
District is intended for single-family residential development that is connected and coordinated into 
neighborhoods.  New developments adjacent to existing neighborhoods should be designed with 
adequate buffers to assist with compatibility.  Examples of such buffers outlined in the Future Land 
Use Plan include green space, natural or artificial screening, or a more moderate intensity 
development/land use which would serve as a transition, such as an office or senior housing. 

 
The assisted living facility is a low intensity use that would serve as a transition from 9th Street to the 
existing single-family neighborhood.  In addition, the landscape plan goes beyond the requirements 
of the Landscape Ordinance, providing more plant materials along the south and east property lines, 
which are adjacent to existing single-family uses. 

 
B. Site Plan Review: The Site Plan Review Criteria of Section 64.80. 

 
A site plan has been provided that generally meets all of the requirements of the Site Plan Review 
Ordinance.  Any deficiencies will be outlined in the Site Plan Packet section below.   
 

C. Impacts: 
 
1. The proposed use would be compatible, harmonious and appropriate with the existing or 

planned character and uses of adjacent properties; meaning the proposed use can coexist with 
neighboring uses in a stable fashion over time such that no neighboring use is unduly negatively 
impacted. 
 
The design of the building as a one-story structure helps to minimize its impact on neighboring 
properties. In addition, the architectural style of the building is more residential in nature, 



Oshtemo Township Planning Commission 
Oshtemo Assisted Living 
05/15/2019 ∙ Page 3 

 
providing for some visual compatibility with its neighbors.  As a predominately residential use, 
its incorporation as a transition from 9th Street to the single-family neighborhood seems wholly 
appropriate and complies with the Township Master Plan. 
 
An assisted living facility is considered a low intensity and low volume residential/service 
business.  According to the Institute of Transportation Engineers Common Trip Generation Rates 
table, an assisted living facility generates 0.22 trips per unit at peak hours.  For a 65-unit building, 
this would equate to approximately 14 vehicle trips during peak hours, which would likely be 
shift change for staff.  A specialty food or retail store, which would be permitted on this parcel 
as part of the PUD, could generate anywhere from 34 trips to 62 trips during peak hours.   

 
2. Potentially adverse effects arising from the proposed use on adjacent properties would be 

minimized through the provision of adequate parking, the placement of buildings, structures 
and entrances, as well as the location of screening, fencing, landscaping, buffers or setbacks. 
 
The design of the site, with the primary vehicular access of Lexy Lane and the main building 
entrance facing 9th Street reduces any adverse impacts related to traffic and noise from the 
neighborhood.  The location of the access point off Lexy Lane has been designed to align with 
the property line of the lots across the street, ensuring vehicle lights do not trespass on 
residential living spaces.  Landscaping, including canopy trees, understory trees, and shrubs are 
planned along the property lines, helping to screen the parking lots from the residential homes.  
In addition, the parking spaces all face the building, assisting with the reduction of vehicular light 
trespass. 
 

3. The proposed use would not be detrimental, hazardous, or disturbing to existing or future 
adjacent uses or to the public welfare by reason of excessive traffic, noise, smoke, odors, glare, 
or visual clutter. 

 
As previously stated, an assisted living facility is a low intensity residential/service use which 
should cause no undue traffic or noise to the existing single-family neighborhood.  Most traffic 
entering the site will be employees and family visiting relatives.  It is not likely that residents of 
the facility will generate vehicular trips.  
 
A retail commercial use at this location would have much greater impact on the neighbors.  One 
item for the Planning Commission to consider is loading/unloading, which has not been 
specifically designated on the site plan.  Deliveries of food, supplies, etc. are likely to occur on 
site.  An understanding of where this will take place should be explored by the Planning 
Commission to ensure compatibility with the immediately adjacent residential uses. 
 

D. Environment: The natural features of the subject property shall only be cleared or altered to the 
extent necessary to accommodate site design elements, particularly where the natural features 
assist in preserving the general character of the area. 

 
There are no existing natural features that required design accommodation. From aerial 
photography, it appears any natural features on this site have been cleared for many years.  The 1999 
aerial shows the parcel in relatively the same condition as it is today. 
 



Oshtemo Township Planning Commission 
Oshtemo Assisted Living 
05/15/2019 ∙ Page 4 

 
E. Public Facilities: Adequate public and/or private infrastructure and services already exist or would 

be provided, and will safeguard the health, safety, and general welfare of the public. 
 
The site is served by public water and sewer.  Storm water will be managed within the existing storm 
water detention area, which serves the entire PUD.  The Director of Public Works has some concerns 
related to the storm water management plan, which will be more clearly described in the Site Plan 
Packet section of this report. 
 

F. Specific Use Requirements: The Special Use development requirements of Article 49. 
 

PUD’s are considered a Special Use per the Township Zoning Ordinance.  Section 41.90 outlines the 
criteria for approving a PUD.  The Sky King I PUD was approved by the Township in May of 2004, 
establishing the Special Use. 

 
SITE PLAN PACKET 
 
Site Plan 
 
The structure will be one-story with two proposed interior courtyards.  The main entrance faces 9th Street 
and vehicular travel lanes surround the development, allowing emergency service access to the entire 
property.  The 10-foot nonmotorized path planned along 9th Street and sidewalks within both the Lexy Lane 
and Belle Street rights-of-way will be developed.  Finally, the vehicular connection to the Hannapel Design 
Studio to the north, which was required as part of the PUD approval, has been designed. 
 
Parking regulations have been met for this specific use.  The applicant has proposed four additional spaces 
than required by ordinance, but this does not exceed 110 percent of the minimum parking space requirement 
allowed per Section 52.50.H. 
 
The one concern related to the site plan involves the accessible pathways/landing areas and whether they 
meet ADA standards.  A “landing” is the area between where the accessible ramp ends and where the entry 
door swings open.  This area is important for wheelchair access to entranceways.  The Director of Public 
Works notes the following: 
 

The east-side accessible pathway from Belle Street is depicted as having a double flare within the interior 
perpendicular sidewalk. This location is adjacent to the east-side building entrance. This construction 
detail is unlikely to provide sufficient space for an ADA landing to change directions at the sidewalk 
intersection. It is also cautioned that the required ADA landing area at the top of the main entrance ramp 
is also at risk of being noncompliant. This will depend on whether there is a conflict with the landing, in 
conjunction with required ADA doorway clearance at the entrance. More specifically, minimum ADA 
requirements may affect the suitability of certain doorway types.  

 
Landscape Plan 
 
All requirements of the Landscape Ordinance have been met. 
 
 
 



Oshtemo Township Planning Commission 
Oshtemo Assisted Living 
05/15/2019 ∙ Page 5 

 
Photometric Plan 
 
The photometric plan includes notes that lighting will be reduced to 30 percent power between 10:00 pm 
and 7:00 am, that all fixtures will be downward directed, and that the 4:1 ratio for lighting over the site has 
been met.  There are two concerns related to the photometric plan and associated documents: 
 
1. Detail cut sheets are required for the proposed light fixtures.  The Site Plan Review regulations require 

these cut sheets so staff can ensure fixtures meet ordinance standards.  Staff did not receive a cut sheet 
for the Lithonia wall light proposed for the exterior of the building.  
 

2. The photometric plan shows two ground mounted flood lights intended to illuminate the ground sign 
which is planned at the corner of 9th Street and Lexy Lane.  Ground mounted lighting for signs is regulated 
by the following ordinances: 

 
Section 54.20.F states: Landscape light fixtures, including ground lighting for signs, flag poles and 
statues, shall not exceed 175 watts per lamp and shall be equipped with shields or shutters to help 
eliminate glare. 

 
Section 55.150.D states: Lighting fixtures used to illuminate an outdoor advertising sign shall be 
mounted on the top of the sign structure whenever practical or mounted so that no light rays are 
emitted by the installed fixture at angles above the sign's highest horizontal plane or in any event 
beyond the advertising display area. 

 
Staff is concerned with the flood light fixture proposed to illuminate the sign.  Based on the cut sheet, it 
is really only shielded at the top of the light.  There is a possibility that light could spill beyond the sign.  
This will only be able to be verified once installed, which could be problematic to the applicant if changes 
are needed.  The applicant may want to consider a flood light that has shielding at the top and sides to 
help ensure more directed exposure on the sign. 
 

Elevation Drawings 
 
All requirements have been met. 
 
Engineering Concerns 
 
The Director of Public Works had an opportunity to review the most recent plan set.  He has indicated that 
the site plan is sound and is ultimately approvable, but with conditions.  Specifically, the basin soils and overall 
storm water system design will need to be evaluated in accordance with the soils found during construction. 
That is, design modification may be deemed necessary in the course of construction. Any proposed 
modifications are to be submitted to the Township for review. These conditions are substantially noted within 
the submitted plans, but including them in any possible approval seems warranted.  In addition, there are a 
handful of clarifications and incidental items which require revisions.  The memo outlining these items is 
attached. 
 
Fire Marshal Concerns 
 
All of the Fire Marshal’s concerns have been resolved. 

http://online.encodeplus.com/regs/oshtemo-mi/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=1928


Oshtemo Township Planning Commission 
Oshtemo Assisted Living 
05/15/2019 ∙ Page 6 

 
OUTSTANDING CONCERNS 
 
The following provides a more succinct list of the remaining outstanding items/concerns to be resolved with 
the site plan packet: 
 
1. Loading/unloading of deliveries has not been delineated on the site plan.  The Planning Commission may 

wish to explore this topic with the applicant to reduce impacts on single-family neighbors. 
 

2. ADA standards to reduce conflicts at accessible ramp landings may be difficult to acheive with the current 
design of the sidewalks at the east side of the building and at the main entrance. 
 

3. Detailed cut sheets of one of the building mounted lights has not been provided. 
 

4. The flood lights planned for the ground sign may cause light spill over. 
 

5. Soils found during construction may require design modifications to the storm water management 
planned for the site.  
 

6. Additional concerns as outlined in the memo from the Director of Public Works dated May 14th. 
 
PLANNING COMMISSION POSSIBLE ACTIONS 
 
If the Planning Commission is amenable to approving the site plan as part of the PUD special use, staff 
recommends attaching the follow conditions: 
 

1. Detail information be provided on the site plan that indicate accessible landings meet ADA standards.  
A revised site plan be provided prior to the issuance of a building permit.  

 
2. Detail cut sheets of the building mounted lighting be provided prior to the issuance of a building 

permit. 
 

3. Ground mounted lighting – Either  
a. Provide a new light fixture detail that affords better shielding of the flood light, which will be 

reviewed and approved by staff,  
or 

b. After construction of the ground mounted sign and lighting, staff will inspect the light fixtures 
to ensure no light trespasses beyond the dimensions of the sign. 

 
4. Any design modifications to the storm water management system needed due to soils must be 

submitted to the Township Director of Public Works for review and approval. 
 

5. A revised site plan set incorporating the items detail in the Director of Public Works memo dated 
May 14, 2019.  This revised set to be submitted prior to the issuance of a building permit. 

 
Additional conditions may be needed related to loading/unloading, depending on responses from the 
applicant. 
 



Oshtemo Township Planning Commission 
Oshtemo Assisted Living 
05/15/2019 ∙ Page 7 

 
The Planning Commission may also consider postponing approval of the site plan until some or all of the 
concerns noted above have been resolved.   
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 

 
Julie Johnston, AICP 
Planning Director 
 
Attachments:  Application 

Aerial 
  Site Plan 
  Director of Public Works Memo – 05/14/2019 

Lighting cut sheets 
  ZBA minutes – 01/22/2019 



,U(r,
('borrtsa to(r)r)sbtp

7275 W. Main Street, Kalamazoo, Michigan 49009-9334
Phone: 269-216-5223 Fax: 269-375-7180

PLEASE PRINTn NA)
PR0.llrCl' N,\i\{l I &,\DDIiESS LtVt*16 - @-r?+E

loo tt.qfl .ffiT E44Hfr0b Hl frbeD
PLANNING & ZONING APPLICATION

Applicant

Company

Address

E-mail e cdtA

Name : EYCE ? fts*t*T'Esf t^tc.
e/d -f . eh\oFt;

T"t"plrrn"Mr^@
Interest in Properf_v" A{V,t EIO^ -

owNER*: (b,t ot*tr. ruzcutEsge)
Name EUttl.t gealt LtVtN6

' '6 Z ' I tltlo l4ttArxl4 t tr -

l12t^Rtrz.p.fi n \- ,l
lmran A HL A4llb

Fee Amount $ 0OO .oo

Escrorv Amount $ lr5MP
Address

Email
br;qn+nh

Phone & Fax
&to- Ll7'qA7 I

NATURE OF TI{E REQUEST: lPlease check the appropriate item(s))

_Planning Escrow-1042
y' Site Plan Review-1088

_Administrative Site Plan Review- I 086

_Special Exception Use- 1085
Zoning Variance-1092

-Site 
Condominium- I 084

_Accessory Building Review- I 083

BRIEFLY DESCRIBE YOUR REQUEST iLIse Anachments ifNecessary)

_Land Division-1090

-Subdivision 
Plat Review- I 089

_Rezoning-1091
_[nterpretation- 1082

_Text Amendment-1081

_Sign Deviation-1080

e. r

Page I l0/t5

5l+ eLAl P-. rr! --- -lD .g f i

Pu^tNl't( erllttt,cs '^{ ,<'c Ri^l frw6'ut+z-.
ft?p, t- tlttt -



LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY (Use Attachments i/.Necessary):

€ ltu t{/Ll& twmNtws fri*
I

PARCEL NUMBER: 3905- 14 .,85 . 01 D

ADDRf,,SS OF PROPERTY:

PRESENT USE OF THE PROPERTY: V*&il f U+^tD

PRESENT ZOMNG SIZE OF PROPERTY 5,3K.% t
apatrttql*tb

NAME(S) & ADDRESS(ES) OF ALL OTHER PERSONS, CORPORATIONS, OR FIRMS
HAVING A Lf,GAL OR EQUITABLE INTEREST IN THE PROPERTY:

Applicant's Signature

Copias to:
Planning -l
Applicant -l
Clerk -l
Deputy Clerk-l
Attomcy-l
Assessor -l
Planning Secretary - Original

Address(es)

Date

02-28-2019

Date

,. ,1.,t *

PLEASE ATTACH ALL REQUIRED DOCUMENTS

Name(s)

5*-zr-; fr CLC
(ctsrc*/ rzrz-E /fsa*)

.4.fi1"0 dgt4i.t N-tvE-
K/k*la*t&. k{1. 4?&
lrytile: hd,q. --b5 a

SIGNATARES

I (we) the under,signed cert{y that lhe inJbrmalion contained on this opplicutionform ond the
recluired documents attached hereb are b the hesl af nry (our) krumledge lrue and accurale.
I fiue) acknowledge thal we have receiveel the Township'.s Disclaimer Regarding Sewer and Wsler
Infrostructure. By x&mitting this Planhing&ZoningAppliccttion, I (we) grant permisskmfor
Oshtemo Township fficials and ogents to enler the subject property of the application as part
ofcampleting the lo process the application.

February 76,2019

Owne/s Signature/* diffe re nt .fr o m .4 p p I ic a n t)

Lr71

fi*r,,runt mo,^t

\\Oshtemo-SBS\Users\l.indat\l,lNDA\Plann tng\FORMS

')

l0/l 5

4a/Ll

JohnF
Line

JohnF
Line

JohnF
Line



7275 W. MAIN STREET, KALAMAZOO, MI   49009 
269-216-5220  Fax 269-375-7180  www.oshtemo.org 

 
 
 

 T:\COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT\PUBLIC WORKS\ENG SPR\Senior Living, 400 N 9th St\mem 2019-05-14 SPR.docx 

 

Memorandum 
  

Date: May 14, 2019 

To: Julie Johnston, Director of Planning 

From: Marc Elliott, Director of Public Works 

Subject: Build Senior Living, 400 N 9th St, Site Plan Review 

 
 
I have reviewed the plan set received May 1, 2019 for the above referenced project.  While I have 
several comments which follow, please know that the proposal is sound and is ultimately approvable 
with conditions (as contained in the plans).  Specifically, the basin soils and overall storm water 
system design will be evaluated in accordance with the soils found during construction.  That is, 
design modification may be deemed necessary in the course of construction.  Any proposed 
modifications are to be submitted to the Township for review.  These conditions are substantially 
noted within the submitted plans.  What follows are further clarifications, plus a few incidental items 
which warrant revisions. 
 
1. As correctly noted on the plans, Oshtemo requires ductile iron ADA warning plats at locations 

were public sidewalks and public non-motorized facilities approach public roads.  Please know 
that the design engineer/developer is welcome to use other materials within the site (outside the 
public right-of-way) where ADA warnings are desired. 

2. Please annotate Detail 1 of Sheet C520 to indicate that a 2-ft clear space is to be provided 
adjacent to each side of the 10-ft path. 

3. The assessible east-side accessible pathway from Belle St is depicted as having a double flare 
within the interior perpendicular sidewalk.  This location is adjacent to the east-side building 
entrance.  This construction detail is unlikely to provide sufficient space for an ADA landing to 
change directions at the sidewalk intersection.  I also caution that the required ADA landing area 
at the top of the main entrance ramp is also at risk of being noncompliant.  This will depend on 
whether there is a conflict with the landing, in conjunction with required ADA doorway 
clearance at the entrance.  More specifically, minimum ADA requirements may affect the 
suitability of certain doorway types. 

4. The associated line work for the silt fencing is inconsistent with the legend.  Please clarify so that 
the extent and location of site fencing can be better understood. 

5. The two plan notations and associated line work makes it difficult to determine the extent of the 
8-inch perforated HDPE storm pipe (Detail 14, Sheet C520).  Please clarify. 

6. Kalamazoo County Road Commission driveway standards generally require crossing tubes for 
drainage.  The proposed entrance design and pavement grades allow a greater quantity of internal 
roadway, parking and entrance drive stormwater runoff to carried onto the public road than I am 
comfortable with.  Placing a crossing tube under the driveway entrance, in conjunction with 
enhanced depression areas on either side of the entrance drive will enhance stormwater 
infiltration.  This modification should be done in conjunction with modest pavement grade 



 T:\COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT\PUBLIC WORKS\ENG SPR\Senior Living, 400 N 9th St\mem 2019-05-14 SPR.docx 
 

changes to better direct pavement runoff into these depression/infiltration areas, in lieu of 
cascading down the driveway and onto the public roadway pavement. 

7. The interior storm system discharges into a swale area above the shared basin.  The basin walls 
are susceptible to erosion from concentrated flows which are likely to develop as these flows 
traverse down gradient.  A drop structure or engineered erosion control treatment is required to 
be extended to the bottom of the basin. 

8. I note that the reconstructed basin bottom is intended to be seeded into a soil/topsoil mix.  I 
would suggest that vegetative material is unlikely to be successfully established.  Therefore, a 
sand/gravel mix of native soils would be an acceptable alternative for the basin bottom. 

9. Dewatering of the shared pond shall be done in conjunction with a design professional’s 
observations and oversight.  This is to assure the receiving pond area is adequately dissipating 
these discharges.  More importantly, the capacity of this natural low is not be excessively reduced 
such that a closely following rainstorm would place the surrounding structures at risk. 

10. Please add a notation that basin sediment removals, and excavation of the new basin contours 
shall be completed under the supervision of a soils professional.  This is so that exposed and 
underlaying soils can be properly evaluated.  Construction observation by a soils professional is 
also required during the excavation and placement of the pond infiltration structure (Detail 12 of 
Sheet C520). 







1 
 

OSHTEMO CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
  ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

 
MINUTES OF A MEETING HELD JANUARY 22, 2019 

 
 
Agenda 
 
2019 ZBA OFFICER APPOINTMENTS – CHAIR AND VICE CHAIR 
 
ZONING ORDINANCE INTERPRETATION: PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT 
SPECIAL EXCEPTION USE 
BUILD SENIOR LIVING AND BYCE & ASSOCIATES, ON BEHALF OF HAMPTON 
MANOR, REQUESTED A ZONING ORDINANCE INTERPRETATION OF SECTION 
60.400: PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT SPECIAL EXCEPTION USE ORDINANCE, 
SPECIFICALLY SECTION 60.412: ALLOWABLE LAND USES, TO DETERMINE IF 
ASSISTED LIVING FACILITIES WOULD BE A PERMITTED COMMERCIAL USE. 
 
 

A meeting of the Oshtemo Charter Township Zoning Board of Appeals was held 
Tuesday, January 22, 2019 at approximately 3:00 p.m. at the Oshtemo Charter Township 
Hall. 
 
All MEMBERS WERE PRESENT: James Sterenberg, Chair  
      Fred Antosz 
      Nancy Culp 
      Fred Gould 
      Micki Maxwell 
      Neil Sikora, Vice Chair 
      Anita Smith 
 
 Also present were Julie Johnston, Planning Director, James Porter, Township 
Attorney, and Martha Coash, Meeting Transcriptionist. Five other persons were in 
attendance. 
  
Call to Order and Pledge of Allegiance 
 
 Chairperson Sterenberg called the meeting to order and invited those present to 
join in reciting the “Pledge of Allegiance.”   
 
 He welcomed three new members, Fred Antosz, Fred Gould and Micki Maxwell, 
Planning Commission Liaison, and all members introduced themselves. 
 
Public Comment on Non-Agenda Items 
 
 There were no comments on non-agenda items. 



2 
 

2019 ZBA OFFICER APPOINTMENTS – CHAIR AND VICE CHAIR 
 
 Chairperson Sterenberg asked for nominations for the position of Chair for 2019. 
 
 Mr. Sikora nominated Mr. Sterenberg to continue as Chair for 2019. It was 
determined he was willing to accept the nomination. There were no further nominations. 
 
 Mr. Sikora made a motion to elect Mr. Sterenberg as Chair for 2019. Mr. Antosz 
supported the motion. The motion was approved unanimously. 
 
 Chairperson Sterenberg asked for nominations for the position of Vice Chair for 
2019. 
 
 Ms. Culp nominated Mr. Sikora to continue as Vice Chair for 2019. It was 
determined he was willing to accept the nomination. There were no further nominations. 
 
 Ms. Culp made a motion to elect Mr. Sikora as Vice Chair for 2019. Mr. 
Sterenberg supported the motion. The motion was approved unanimously. 
 
APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES OF NOVEMBER 27, 2018 
 
 Chairperson Sterenberg asked if there were any additions, deletions or 
corrections to the minutes of November 22, 2018.  
 
 Hearing none, the Chair asked for a motion. 
 
 Mr. Sikora made a motion to approve the Minutes of November 27, 2018 as 
presented. Ms. Maxwell supported the motion. The motion was approved unanimously. 
 
 Chairperson Sterenberg moved to the next agenda item. 
 
ZONING ORDINANCE INTERPRETATION: PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT 
SPECIAL EXCEPTION USE 
BUILD SENIOR LIVING AND BYCE & ASSOCIATES, ON BEHALF OF HAMPTON 
MANOR, REQUESTED A ZONING ORDINANCE INTERPRETATION OF SECTION 
60.400: PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT SPECIAL EXCEPTION USE ORDINANCE, 
SPECIFICALLY SECTION 60.412: ALLOWABLE LAND USES, TO DETERMINE IF 
ASSISTED LIVING FACILITIES WOULD BE A PERMITTED COMMERCIAL USE. 
 
 The Chair asked Ms. Johnston to review the request for zoning ordinance 
interpretation related to assisted living facilities in PUDs. 
 
 Ms. Johnston said Building Senior Living and Byce & Associates, on behalf of 
Hampton Manor, would like to develop an assisted living facility within the Sky King 
Meadows Planned Unit Development (PUD).  The property is located at the northeast 
corner of North 9th Street and Lexy Lane, approximately one-half mile south of the 9th 



3 
 

Street/West Main Street intersection.  The specific parcel in question was planned as 
part of the commercial component of the PUD. She noted this is the first zoning 
ordinance interpretation request since she has been employed by the Township. 
 
 She said reviewing the Planned Unit Development Special Exception Use 
Ordinance, Section 60.412 indicates the following: 
 

Planned unit developments are restricted to one or more of the following uses regardless of 
the zoning classification in which the development is located, provided such land uses are 
consistent with the goals and objectives of the Township Master Plan including the Sub-
Area Plans: 
 
A. One-family, two-family, three- or four-family, and multiple-family dwellings, including 

uses and buildings accessory thereto. 
 

B. Low intensity nonresidential uses such as educational, cultural, recreational, 
neighborhood office or neighborhood commercial nature, including uses and buildings 
accessory thereto. Non-residential uses shall be compatible in design, layout, scale and 
appearance with the residential character of the area, and shall be an integral part of a 
residential development logically oriented to and coordinated with the planned unit 
development to serve the day-to-day needs of residents in the development. 

 
 Ms. Johnston explained after staff review of this language, the applicant was 
informed the proposed use did not meet the specific requirements of Section 60.412.B, 
which details the types of commercial uses permitted within the PUD.  While similar to 
the envisioned uses, staff did not feel an assisted living facility could be defined as 
educational, cultural, recreational, neighborhood office, or neighborhood commercial. 
 
 The applicant is still very interested in the available parcel, so staff outlined some 
possible steps to achieve their goal of an assisted living facility at this location.  One 
option was to request a zoning ordinance interpretation to evaluate staff’s assertion that 
assisted living facilities are not a permitted use within the PUD.  Per the documents 
provided by the applicant, they believe their use meets the ordinance requirements and 
is neighborhood commercial in nature. 
 
 She said after careful review of the zoning districts within the Township, assisted 
living facilities can be clearly found in the R-4: Residence District and the C: Local 
Business District.  The R-4 District under Section 24.203 permits nursing, handicapped, 
convalescent, and senior citizen homes by right.  The C: Local Business District under 
Section 30.405 allows nursing, convalescent, handicapped and senior citizen homes as 
a special exception use.  An argument could also be made for these types of facilities 
within the VC: Village Commercial District.  Section 33.310 allows a mix of residential 
and nonresidential uses within the same building as a special exception use and 
Section 33.255 allows professional services within the District.   
 
 She explained the PUD ordinance indicates that low intensity nonresidential uses 
should be permitted within the commercial component of a PUD.  It specifies that such 



4 
 

uses should include educational, cultural, recreational, neighborhood office, or 
neighborhood commercial that meet the day-to-day needs of the residents in the 
development.  Unfortunately, neither the PUD ordinance nor the Definition section of the 
Zoning Ordinance define what constitutes “neighborhood” commercial or office uses.  
The Planner’s Dictionary, a publication from the American Planning Association, defines 
neighborhood retail establishments as “establishments primarily engaged in the 
provision of frequently or recurrently needed goods for household consumption…”  The 
requested use of an assisted living facility would not fit this definition or the PUD 
ordinance requirement of meeting the day-to-day needs of the residents. 
 
 In addition, she said, the Zoning Ordinance does not distinguish between 
neighborhood, local, and general commercial uses.  Without clear direction within the 
Zoning Ordinance for these often-utilized zoning categories, it becomes difficult to 
differentiate which commercial uses may be considered “neighborhood commercial.” 
However, as the Township has identified senior living centers as a commercial use in 
the C: Local Business District, allowing them within the commercial component of a 
PUD does not seem incongruous.   
 
 The PUD ordinance also indicates uses should be consistent with the goals and 
objectives of the Township Master Plan, which does provide a distinction between 
neighborhood, local, and general commercial districts.  The neighborhood commercial 
district was specifically established to provide day-to-day convenience needs for 
residents who live in the rural areas of the Township.  Therefore, staff does not feel it 
correlates to the intent of the PUD ordinance.  However, the local commercial district 
within the Master Plan could be examined as a comparison. It states the following: 
 

The purpose of the Local Commercial designation is to provide low volume commercial 
businesses that mix well with a variety of land uses including residential, industrial, and 
general commercial. These uses are not high-volume / high-traffic uses with a significant 
number of cars coming and going, drive-through service, and/or automobile service. 
(These elements or characteristics can detract from the residential character or 
pedestrian orientation of the surrounding area and are therefore not present in the Local 
Commercial designation). Examples of uses that could be found in a Local Commercial 
designation include professional offices, unique shops such as antique shops and 
specialty food shops, and generally low volume enterprises that do not operate 24 hours 
a day. 

 
 Certainly, she said, an assisted living facility would be a low volume commercial 
business.  According to the Institute of Transportation Engineers Common Trip 
Generation Rates table, an assisted living facility generates 0.22 trips per unit at peak 
hours.  For a 60-unit building, this would equate to approximately 13 vehicle trips.  A 
specialty food or retail store could generate anywhere from 30 trips to 64 trips during 
peak hours.   
 
 The difficulty with the component of the PUD ordinance related to nonresidential 
uses is the somewhat inconsistent language between “low intensity nonresidential uses” 
and meeting the “day-to-day needs” of the development residents.  From a commercial 



5 
 

perspective, the uses that would meet the day-to-day needs of area residents are often 
the uses that generate the most traffic and typically have ancillary functions like truck 
deliveries, extended hours, etc., which may have compatibility issues with the 
neighboring residential development. The Master Plan Local Commercial District 
considers this by indicating uses should not be high-volume/high-traffic.  The language 
of “day-to-day needs” limits nonresidential uses likely to be considered permissible. 
 
 She said it is important to note that the PUD ordinance changed in 2014 to 
include “to serve the day-to-day needs of residents in the development.” Prior to that 
change, uses like the Hannapel kitchen and bath design studio, which is located within 
the Sky King Meadows PUD at 370 North 9th Street, were permitted uses.  Staff does 
not believe Hannapel would be allowed under the current PUD ordinance language. A 
kitchen and bath design studio is a professional service a homeowner may access 
infrequently during the course of their homeownership.   
 
 While possibly not serving the day-to-day needs of the neighboring residents, an 
argument could be made that both Hannapel and the proposed assisted living facility do 
serve area residents.  If homeowners within the Sky King Meadow PUD have home 
improvement needs, the design studio is within walking distance, meeting a need of the 
resident.  If a homeowner of Sky King Meadows either has a family member in need of 
assisted living services, or they themselves now need this service, they can visit family 
or move to this proposed facility without requiring them to leave their neighborhood.   
 
 Ms. Johnston outlined a summary of the interpretation arguments which could 
influence the Board’s deliberations: 
 

• A senior living facility does not meet the commercial day-to-day needs of the 
PUD residents, as required by Section 60.412.B. 
 

• Senior living facilities have been deemed a commercial use within the C: Local 
Business District and therefore are similar to other possible uses allowed within 
the commercial component of the PUD Ordinance (Section 60.412.B). 
 

• While not meeting the day-to-day needs of the residents of the PUD, a senior 
living facility does meet a need in both the local neighborhood and general 
Oshtemo community. 
 

• The PUD Ordinance indicates any use must meet the intent of the Township’s 
Master Plan.  A senior living facility does meet the intent of the Local Commercial 
District outlined in the Future Land Use Plan. 
 

• A senior living facility is a low intensity nonresidential use generating limited 
traffic during peak hours. 
 

 Based on the considerations outlined above, she suggested the Zoning Board of 
Appeals may wish to deliberate the following possible actions: 



6 
 

 
1. Conclude that since assisted living facilities are a low intensity commercial use 

within the C: Local Business District, they therefore are an acceptable low 
intensity nonresidential use with the PUD Ordinance. 
  

2. Determine that an assisted living facility is consistent with the goals and 
objectives of the Local Commercial District of the Township Master Plan, and 
therefore is an allowed use within the PUD Ordinance. 

 
3. Conclude that an assisted living facility is not an acceptable use because it does 

not meet the day-to-day needs of the residents of the PUD. 
 
 Regardless of the final interpretation made by the ZBA, she felt it would be 
appropriate to forward a recommendation to the Planning Commission to review Section 
60.412.  The language utilized in the ordinance – “day-to-day needs” – severely limits 
the types of nonresidential uses which may be considered compatible within a 
residential PUD.  In addition, it is incongruent with the desire to have low intensity 
commercial uses within the PUD.  The existing Hannapel business is a good example of 
this type of use. 
 
 Chairperson Sterenberg thanked Ms. Johnston for her review and asked if there 
were questions from board members. 
 
 Mr. Antosz asked if the inclusion of a salon, kitchen and other amenities that will 
be open to the public as well as residents fit in with commercial requirements. 
 
 Ms. Johnston said she did not consider that as part of her review and could 
consider it but that the request is an interpretation of the ordinance, not of this particular 
use. Focus should be on whether the request fits into the ordinance as written. 
 
 Ms. Maxwell asked for an explanation of the difference between the first and 
second possible actions listed by Ms. Johnston. 
 
 Ms. Johnston said both options would allow assisted living facilities as a 
permitted commercial use in the PUD. Option one justification is that because assisted 
living is allowed in C: Local Business, they should be allowed in the PUD. The second 
option maintains that regardless of the district, the request fits with the Master Plan. 
 
 Mr. Sikora asked what defines “day to day needs.” 
 
 Ms. Johnston felt it was reasonable to think of it as access once a week, 
consistent and frequent. 
 
 The Chair asked whether public notice was required in this case. Ms. Johnston 
said it was not. 
 



7 
 

 Ms. Johnston said the Sky King PUD has both residential homes and the 
Hannapel design center. Today, staff would not agree that Hannapel would meet 
requirements; it was built prior to the ordinance change including “day to day needs.” 
She felt the Planning Commission needs to look at the ordinance to reconcile how low 
volume traffic and “day to day needs” work together. 
 
 The Chair asked how binding the zoning board’s interpretation would be. 
 
 Attorney Porter said it sets precedent but could be challenged; he hoped clearer 
ordinance language will be developed to clarify the ordinance before the issue comes 
up again. 
 
 Ms. Johnston said terminology is not defined and the Planning Commission 
needs to look at it. Although Hannapel is a perfect low-volume business with little impact 
on residents, other businesses that would be much more impactful are also permitted 
under the current ordinance. 
 
 Ms. Smith asked for clarification of how an apartment complex is different from 
an assisted living building under the ordinance. 
 
 Ms. Johnston said in Oshtemo Township assisted living facilities are considered 
a commercial use. 
 
 Mr. Sikora added that although an apartment complex might be money making, it 
is defined by Oshtemo ordinance as family residential. Assisted living is allowed in 
Oshtemo ordinance as commercial. 
 
 Hearing no further questions, Chairperson Sterenberg asked if the applicant 
wished to address the Board. 
 
 Mr. Sam Martin, 5275 Conestoga Drive, Flushing MI, of Build Senior Living, and 
one of the owners of the business, thanked the Board for their consideration.  He 
described the attractive complex that would be developed and showed examples of 
their other assisted living developments, saying the view for neighbors would be 
pleasant and the impact on them low. He described the need and quality of services 
which would include residential, independent assistance, and end of life care all in the 
same apartment. He indicated the facility would provide up to 50 jobs.  
 
 Attorney Porter complimented Mr. Martin on his presentation but reminded Board 
Members their purpose is to determine whether assisted living facilities would be a 
permitted commercial use in the PUD under Ordinance language. 
 
 Mr. Antosz confirmed if the ZBA determines the request meets ordinance 
language that the developers would request a special exception use and site plan 
approval, and that neighbors would be notified  at that time. 
 



8 
 

 There were no comments from the public; the meeting moved to Board 
Discussion. 
 
 Attorney Porter explained a motion needed to be based on the facts and 
reminded them of the three options for consideration as described by Ms. Johnston. 
 
 In response to a question from Mr. Sikora, Ms. Johnston said the underlying 
zoning was R-2. 
 
 Ms. Maxwell said this is a commercial use and fits the criteria for which we are 
looking. 
 
 Mr. Sikora said he would like to see it work there, and maybe the ordinance 
missed addressing this situation at the time, but it is not in the Ordinance and he was 
not comfortable with trying to interpret something that was set previously. He referred 
specifically to the language “day to day needs.” 
 
 Ms. Smith said people in the neighborhood could use it, either by moving there or 
by visiting. It fits under potential “day to day use.” 
 
 Chairperson Sterenberg said he was leaning to option #1. It fits under the 
commercial district and the Master Plan umbrella, although maybe there was a glitch 
when the PUD was created. If it is interpreted to meet option #1 and it goes to the 
Planning Commission and they tweak the Ordinance, then the Zoning Board of Appeals 
action becomes mute at that point. 
 
 Attorney Porter said interpretation authority rests with the Zoning Board of 
Appeals. He expected action taken by the Board would force future Planning 
Commission action, likely to amend the Ordinance. 
 
 Ms. Johnston said the Planning Commission could rewrite the ordinance to 
specifically outline uses. She noted when the ordinance was changed in 2014, the 
Planning Commission probably thought they should allow commercial operations that 
support the residential development and that’s how “day to day use” ended up being 
included. 
 
 The Chairperson explained that was why he was leaning toward the first option 
with a recommendation to the Planning Commission. 
 
 Mr. Sikora indicated he was hesitant to use Hannapel’s as justification. 
 
 Ms. Johnston said she reviewed minutes from when the ordinance was being 
discussed in 2014; the Planning Commission felt Hannapel’s was a great use. 
 
 Chairperson Sterenberg asked if anyone wished to make a motion. 
 



9 
 

 Ms. Maxwell made a motion to conclude that since assisted living facilities are a 
low intensity commercial use within the C: Local Business District, they therefore are an 
acceptable low intensity nonresidential use within the PUD Ordinance. In addition, a 
recommendation should be forwarded to the Planning Commission requesting review of 
Section 60.412 of the Zoning Ordinance. Chairperson Sterenberg supported the motion. 
The motion was approved 4 – 1, with Mr. Sikora voting against. 
 
  
Any Other Business 
 
 Ms. Johnston told the Board the Michigan Association of Planning will be offering 
seminars/training for Planning Commissioners and ZBA Members in March and 
suggested those interested should contact her for sign up. 
 
 She also indicated there will be a meeting in February to consider a variance 
request regarding setbacks and landscaping. 
 
   
ZBA Member Comments 
 
 Mr. Sikora recalled a setback variance request to add a ramp and wheelchair 
access to a front door, but did not know if the Planning Commission took action.  
 
 Ms. Johnston said she would look into it. 
  
 
Adjournment 
 
 Chairperson Sterenberg noted the Zoning Board of Appeals had exhausted its 
Agenda. There being no other business, he adjourned the meeting at approximately 
4:00 p.m. 
 
Minutes prepared: 
January 23, 2019 
 
Minutes approved: 
February 26, 2019 
 


	1 - pc agenda 05-23-2019
	2 - 2019  Back of Agenda Final
	3 - Minutes of May 9 2019
	4 - CCU Temp Facility Staff Report
	5 - CCU Application
	6 - CCU Temporary Aerial
	7 - CCU Trailer Floor Plan
	8 - CCU ITM Elevation
	9 - CCU Site Plan
	Sheets and Views
	17068C005-PDF


	10 - CCU Fire Lanes Plan
	Sheets and Views
	17068C005-PDF


	11 - Costco Gas Station Expansion Staff Report
	12 - Costco Application
	13 - Costco Gas Station Location
	14 - Costco Site Plan
	15 - Costco Gas Station Elevations
	16 - Build Senior Living Staff Report
	17 - Build Senior Living Application
	18 - Build Senior Living Aerial
	19 - Build Senior Living Site Plan
	315-G001 Model (1)
	315-C200 Model (1)
	315-C300 Model (1)
	315-C310 Model (1)
	315-C400 Model (1)
	EC100 - Electrical Site Plan
	EC001 - Electrical Schedules and Details
	L100- Landscape Plan -201904001
	A1 OVERALL FLOOR PLAN 3.16.2019
	A2 Elevation with Colors

	20 - Build Senior Living - PW Memo
	21 - Build Senior Living Lighting Sheets
	22 - Build Senior Living - ZBA Minutes


<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice




